Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Composites Science and Technology

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/compscitech

Review

Interfacial characterization, control and modification of carbon fiber reinforced polymer composites



Li Liu, Chuyuan Jia, Jinmei He, Feng Zhao, Dapeng Fan, Lixin Xing, Mingqiang Wang, Fang Wang, Zaixing Jiang^{**}, Yudong Huang^{*}

Department of Polymer Science and Technology, School of Chemical Engineering and Technology, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin 150001, PR China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 September 2014 Received in revised form 13 July 2015 Accepted 4 August 2015 Available online 5 September 2015

Keywords: Polymer matrix composites Carbon fiber Interfacial characterization Surface modification

ABSTRACT

Fibrous carbon materials have been attracted many researchers' attentions. Carbon fibers have been developed as one of the most important industrial materials for modern science and technology since 1960s [1]. Due to the superior mechanical properties including high-specific strength and modulus, low density and thermal expansion, heat resistance, and chemical stability, carbon fibers as reinforcement materials have provided the impetus for researchers in developing high-performance composite materials. Nowadays, carbon fiber reinforced plastics (CFRP) are widely applied in the industries of aeronautic, aerospace, sporting goods, as well as new energy.

The region between the fibers and matrix, contains unique micromechanical properties, is characteristically called the interphase and influence the bulk composite properties. Interface between fibers (reinforcements) and matrix is an important component for CFRP which may govern the CFRP performances [2]. For example, the interphase determines the off-axis strength and impact toughness of CFRP, environmental stability of CFRP and functional performance of CFRP. The effect of interface on composite can be achieved by regulating the composition, structure and distribution of the interface [3]. It has been proved that there has an optical interface for polymer based composite through the match of composite interface, reinforcement and polymer matrix. However, in terms of the smooth surface and chemical inertness of carbon fiber, the interface between carbon fiber and resin matrix is unsatisfactory. The interface should be modified and carefully controlled, which can be through by increasing the surface polarity of carbon fiber, improving the wettability between carbon fiber and resin, as well as promoting the chemical reaction. Obey these principles, the interfacial modification methods have been well developed.

The universality of carbon fiber and polymer matrix, and the variability of the composite material forming process result in the complexity of polymer-based composites interface problems. Meanwhile the scale of the interface region is very small, it has great difficulty in characterizing the chemical structure, physical properties and mechanical characteristics. Recently, a series of effective characterization methods have been developed and initial interface characterization system is always being improved. With interface characterization techniques, the interfacial composition, structure morphology and micro-mechanical characteristics of interface can be researched easily, which can provide the basis for studying the interface physical and chemical properties. Hence interface characterization techniques not only are theory researches, but also have important practical significance for solving practical application problems of carbon fiber composites. Interface characterization techniques have become an important research direction of interface engineering research.

In this paper, the researches in this field of carbon fiber interface were described, such as carbon fiber composite material characterization methods, interface control, and interfacial modification methods. With reference to the research achievements of a large number of scholars at present, so their current development trend were systemic concluded.

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{}^\circ}$ 2015 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

* Corresponding author.

Corresponding author.
E-mail address: ydhuang.hit1@aliyun.com (Y. Huang).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2015.08.002 0266-3538/© 2015 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Contents

1.	Interfacial characterization of FRP		57
	1.1.	Characterization on interfacial adhesion of FRP	57
	1.2.	Interfacial residual stress characterization of FRP	58
	1.3.	Characterization of the interfacial chemical composition and interfacial phase characteristics	59
	1.4.	Characterization on thickness, modulus of interphase between fibers and matrix and their distribution by AFM	59
	1.5.	Characterization on the distribution of surface coating of fibers and the diffusion between resin and sizing of fibers	60
2.	Inter	facial control of CFRP	61
	2.1.	Molecular assembly of carbon fiber and molecular dynamic simulation	61
	2.2.	Competitive adsorption of resin on the fibers surface and its control	62
3.	Inter	facial modification of CFRP	63
	3.1.	Surface cleaning and activation of carbon fiber by supercritical or subcritical fluids	63
	3.2.	Surface treatment of carbon fiber by anodization	64
	3.3.	Surface modification of carbon fiber by plasma method and irradiation method	65
	3.4.	CNT modification of carbon fiber and its effect of interphase modified with POSS and CNTs	67
	3.5.	Uniform modification of 3D woven	69
4.	Deve	lopment tendency	71
	Refer	rences	71

1. Interfacial characterization of FRP

Interfacial characterizations are used to acknowledge the function of interface and the influence of the interfacial structure on material overall performances. It mainly includes characterization of interfacial chemical and physical structure, thickness and morphology, adhesion strength and residual stress. Based on these characterized results, the relationship between interface performance and the composite material performance can be clarified. Nowadays, the scientific development provides a powerful mean to characterize the interface of composite materials, and some of the advanced technologies have been applied in the composite interface analysis, which contributes to revealing the nature of the interface and enriching the theoretical research of the interface. However, due to the micro area and the complicated structure of the interface, the studies on characterization methods of composite material interface, which are comprehensive and accurate, have been the difficulties and hot spots in the field of composite material interface research.

1.1. Characterization on interfacial adhesion of FRP

Characterization of interfacial bonding strength has always been a very active research field for composite materials. Compared to the overall composite materials, the proportion of interface is relatively small and complex, which results in a great difficulty in measuring the performance of a separate interface. The methods used to measure the interfacial strength of composites can be mainly divided into three categories: macroscopic test methods, mesoscopic interface test methods and micro-composite experimental methods, as shown in Table 1. The macroscopic test methods are focus on the macroscopic composite, such as 3D fabric carbon fiber reinforced resin composites, 2D carbon fiber composite board, etc. Macroscopic test methods mainly include 90° tensile, Off-axis tensile, Notched impact, Noel ring (NOL), Interfacial shear strength (IFSS), Scanning electron microscope (SEM), etc. Mesoscopic interface test methods can be used for the carbon fiber bundle composite and single fiber composite. Mesoscopic interface test methods include IFSS, SEM, atomic force microscope (AFM), X-ray photoelectron spectra (XPS) and Wetting characterization, etc. Micro characterization methods focus on the micro fiber surface performance characterization which include SEM, AFM and XPS, etc.

Macroscopic test methods are used to evaluate the macro interfacial adhesion between fibers and polymer matrix. Some testing methods are put forward by Prosen and Chiao [4], such as short beam shear, off-axis tension and guide groove shear method. All of these methods are sensitive to the interfacial strength. The obtained results depend on the volume contents, distribution and nature of fibers and matrix. Pores and defects' content and distribution in composites also affect the results. Specially, these experiments damage the interface, matrix, even fibers. These methods have significance for composite material applications in engineering, i.e. the effect of interface modification can be quickly evaluated. However, they can be only used for qualitative comparison of the interfacial adhesion properties, not for the independent quantitative evaluation of the interfacial strength.

Characterization of microscopic composite material interface includes testing of micro-composites and in-situ characterization. Micro-composite material testing method is to measure the interfacial adhesion of micro-composite materials composed of resin and embedded monofilament fiber in matrix. Some methods, such as single-fiber pull-out, fragmentation, micro-debonding, proposed by Broutman and Cox [5], could directly measure the interfacial strength quantificationally or semi-quantificationally. Some experimental data have been used in composite materials design and life estimation, but the complexity of the sample preparation, experimental technology, and model simplification make the measured values of interfacial strength quite different via various methods.

Micro-debonding testing is an in-situ characterization method of interfacial adhesion, which can be directly carried out on the actual composites. The basic principle is to add an axial pressure on a selected individual fiber of composites by a diamond probe with the help of an optical microscope and precise positioning mechanism. When interfacial debonding occurs between the fiber and surrounding matrix, the axial pressure is obtained, and the resulting interfacial shear strength is calculated through finite element method based on the micro model. The samples used in this method can be directly cut from the actual composites, without special preparation. The measured results can not only be used to evaluate the performance of composite material products, but also

Table 1

Schematic diagram of interface adhesion characterization.



to detect performance in the course of usage at any time, it is a very promising approach.

In addition, another micro characterization technology which can be used to evaluate interfacial stress was developed by R.J.Young [6]. Stress distribution and stress transfer of carbon fiber reinforced composite material can be measured by using Raman spectrum, in terms of the linear relationship between the frequency shift of Raman spectrum and fiber strain. Cooperating with this technology, stress distribution of composite materials can be deeply comprehended.

Recently, a model with three parameters is proposed, which can relate the interfacial binding energy, interfacial micro-adhesion and the macro performance of CFRP. In this model, adhesive strength (τ) of the composite material with different contact area (s) is determined. When $s \rightarrow \infty$, with the increase of contact area, adhesive strength will tend to be a constant and can represent interlaminar shear strength of the two layers of the composite material. When

 $s \rightarrow 0$, adhesive strength can be considered to be the interface shear strength between fiber and resin. The model with three undetermined parameter is shown in Equation (1).

$$\tau = A + Be^{-\lambda S} \tag{1}$$

In which, A, B and λ are three undetermined constants which are related to the composition of composite material and interfacial tension.

The preparation of the testing composites is shown as Fig. 1. With this method, the relationship between microscopic interfacial strength and macroscopic properties of composite materials can be revealed, as shown in Fig. 1.

1.2. Interfacial residual stress characterization of FRP

Residual stress in carbon fiber laminates will cause premature



Fig. 1. (a) Process of producing meso composites specimen. (b), Relationship between shear stress and adhesion area.

failure upon tensile loading. If it is large enough, it will cause ply failure even in the absence of applied stress. Many factors aid in the formation of the process-induced residual stresses, such as chemical shrinkage caused by polymer crosslinking, thermal property mismatch, and overall anisotropy of composite materials.

X-ray diffraction technique was developed and applied to determine the interfacial residual stress of CFRP [7]. Carbon fiber is graphite-like structure, consisted of many graphitic lamellar ribbons oriented roughly parallel to the fibers axis with crystallinity more than 80%. The residual stress at the CFRP interface makes the crystal plane spacing of carbon fiber change, which can be detected by analyzing X-ray diffraction peak.

According to the Bragg diffraction equation $2dsin\theta = \lambda$ [8], the measured diffraction angles 2θ can be used to calculate the crystal plane spacing, by which strain stress can be calculated according to the theory of elastic mechanics. It can be assumed the residual stress applied on carbon fiber as a way of axial symmetry, due to its lager length-diameter ratio of carbon fiber.

Assuming that carbon fiber axial is Z, when the measuring direction is perpendicular to the fibers axis, the strain (ε_z) of carbon fiber in *Z* direction can be obtained from the diffraction peak shift.

$$\varepsilon_Z = \frac{d_Z - d_Z^0}{d_Z^0} \tag{2}$$

Where d_Z is the crystal plane spacing perpendicular to the fiber axis, d_7^0 is the crystal plane spacing without stress (measured by free carbon fiber).

When measuring the crystal diffraction parallel to the direction of carbon fiber axis, ε_r is the measured strain.

$$\varepsilon_r = \frac{d_r - d_r^0}{d_r^0} \tag{3}$$

According to Equations (2) and (3), the axial and radial strain of carbon fibers can be calculated.

It can be assumed that direction Z and direction R are the main direction of stress, so that,

$$\sigma_{Z} = \frac{E_{Z}[2v_{rZ}\varepsilon_{r} + (1 - v_{r0})E_{Z}]}{1 - v_{r0} - 2v_{rZ}v_{Zr}}$$
(4)

$$\sigma_r = \frac{E_r(\varepsilon_r + \varepsilon_Z \upsilon_{Zr})}{1 - \upsilon_{r0} - 2\upsilon_{rZ} \upsilon_{Zr}}$$
(5)

Where E is the elastic modulus of carbon fiber, v is the Poissson ratio of carbon fiber, the residual stress in the axial (σ_z) and radial direction (σ_r) of the carbon fiber/matrix interface can be obtained.

Using this method, the interfacial stress of carbon fiber/epoxy with expansion monomer can be obtained [9], as shown in Fig. 2. As the bulk effect caused by expending monomer overcomes the problem of epoxy resin volume shrinkage during solidification essentially, introducing it reduces the residual stress of CFRP interface.

1.3. Characterization of the interfacial chemical composition and interfacial phase characteristics

The characterization of interfacial chemical structure mainly refers to analysis for constituent elements, valence, and their distribution of interface, which is often analyzed with traditional spectrum, such as infrared spectrum (IR), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), Auger electron spectroscopy (AES), election probe, secondary ion mass spectrometer (SIMS), electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS), micro Raman spectroscopy (MRS),



Fig. 2. Residual stress of composite material with different expending monomer wt%.

extended X-ray absorption fine structure spectroscopy (E-XAFS) and so on. The methods, using spectroscopy to characterize interface chemical composition, have been reviewed in some articles [10]. Although these methods are widely applied, they have many kinds of limitations. For example, the analyzed interface is often required to be stripped, meanwhile, the interface size is much smaller than some of the beam spots. In addition, some methods can only provide element information but can't acknowledge element valence states, etc.

The characterization technology of interface morphology and thickness includes transmission electron microscopy (TEM), scanning electron microscope (SEM), atomic force microscope (AFM), etc. These methods have great guiding significance in studying the interface uniformity, the interface transition layer, resin permeability and the selectivity of interface reaction.

1.4. Characterization on thickness, modulus of interphase between fibers and matrix and their distribution by AFM

AFM is a sensitive tool for characterizing surface properties of a series of material systems from soft polymer to rigid ceramic and metal [11]. Recently, in addition to conventional topographical imaging, several technologies based on AFM, have been developed to explore the interfacial properties of fibers reinforced composites, such as nanoindentation [12], force modulation mode [13,14] and phase imaging [15]. Among these technologies, force modulation AFM, which is widely used in polymers [16], semiconductors [17,18], biological [19,20], especially in composite materials investigations, is particularly useful for detecting soft and stiff areas on substrates which exhibit overall uniform topography [21].

The force modulation AFM allows a gualitative statement about the local modulus of sample surface using an oscillating cantilever tip which indents into the sample surface. In accordance with the local modulus of the sample, corresponding cantilever amplitude will change under scanning. On the stiff areas of the sample surface, the depth of indentation will be smaller, and on the compliant areas, it will be larger. So the different responses of the cantilever from areas with different modulus can be observed.

The force modulation images obtained from the cross-section of the fine polished carbon fiber reinforced epoxy composites are shown in Fig. 3. In a force modulation AFM image, the different color contrasts are corresponding to different modulus. The interphase region captured from untreated carbon fiber composites is shown in Fig. 3a. The thickness of the interphase is very







Fig. 3. Force modulation AFM images of composite interphase region. (a) phase image for untreated carbon fiber composite. (b) line profile for a (blue line). (c) phase image for treated carbon fiber composite. (d) line profile for c (blue line). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

small and the modulus sharply changes from the carbon fiber to the matrix. The crosslink of the matrix is not affected by the fibers surface. Compared with the untreated composites, an obvious interphase with a thickness of 100 nm exists in the modified carbon fiber composites. And obvious contrast among the fibers, interphase and matrix region reveals a difference in the viscoelastic property of these three regions. From the section analysis image (shown as Fig. 3), it also can be obviously observed that a distinct modulus transition region exists corresponding to the interphase.

1.5. Characterization on the distribution of surface coating of fibers and the diffusion between resin and sizing of fibers

Sizing is a part of carbon fiber and must provide a new set of properties to optimize composite processing and performance. Unfortunately, it has been found that the distribution of the applied sizing layer is frequently non-uniform. Thomson and D.W. Dwight [22,23] analyzed the XPS data from a wide range of commercial and experimental glass fibers and present a glass-fibers' sizing characterization model, based on a patchy sizing overlayer hypothesis, shown as Fig. 4.

For glass fibers coated with organic materials (at C/Si > 10), silicon could be used as a characteristic atom for the glass with negligible loss of accuracy in the analysis. They developed a protocol to plot the ratios of appropriate atom concentrations and established the relationship between C/Si data of glass fibers from

XPS and coverage of sizing from LOI by fixing the curves. And they estimated the surface coverage of the sizing on glass fibers to obtain information on the stoichiometry of the sizing. Using this model, XPS results, combined with the weight fraction of the sizing, gave a quantitative value for the coverage of the fibers' surface by the sizing.

According to D.W. Dwight's model, it is important to determine the atoms which are characteristic only of the sizing or the fibers for carbon fiber. Carbon, oxygen and nitrogen are present in both sizing and fibers, so it is difficult to select a kind of atom as signal exclusive to the carbon fiber' surface layer. In our investigation of carbon sizing, the brominated epoxy resin was added to the carbon fiber sizing. Combined with the Dwight's model, the bromine can be used as the characteristic atom and the sizing layer can be analyzed to provide the information used to predict and control their influence on processibility and composite performance.

For interface characterization, it is common that one characterization specificities in analyzing one interfacial property. For example, interfacial chemical composition and distribution only apply to analysis of interfacial reaction. The analysis of the interface transition layer's thickness and modulus can be used to analyze the infiltration characteristics of interface, and so on. These methods are used to prove that the carbon fiber surface modification and the effect of the resin modification are helpful to establish the relationship between the microscopic interface properties and the macro mechanical properties. Interface characterization faces great difficulty, because there is a certain distribution in composite



Fig. 4. Schematic diagram of the cross section of a glass fibers with an idealized sizing distribution.

material and a dispersion in interfacial physical and chemical properties. Judging from the current situation, although there are lots of problems, researches for composite material interface characterization continue being developed toward a more microscopic and more quantitative direction. Interfacial characterization is helpful to the engineering application of composite materials and micro interface mechanism research, especially for designing of novel composite material, such as a new generation of high performance composite materials consisted of micro-nano scale materials, dendritic compound materials, etc. The research on interface impact has been developed from the initial studies on modifying the hydrophilic and lipophilicity of fibers or resin to more microscopic micro-nano scale design and control. Thus, the in-depth study on infiltration characteristics, reaction features, and interface stress transfer characteristics has become the important trend in the field of composite material, at present.

2. Interfacial control of CFRP

Interfacial control of CFRP mainly focuses on forming a control and stable surface structure on CF, and effective modeling. It is also focused on that ordering interphase to understand the interfacial mechanism and establishing the industrial control method based on the interfacial mechanism.

In the process of CFRP, the matrix resin will wet the carbon fiber and resin is adsorbed on the surface of CF to form the interphase of CFRP. The interfacial control can be obtained through the changing of the surface feature and resin component to adjust the wettability between CF and resin. The molecular assembly can be a method to control the interface structure according to the design. But on the other hand, the resin used is usually the multi-components polymer, such as epoxy system including the epoxy resin, curing agent and other modification agent. The adsorption behavior of different components will influence the interphase of CFRP, especially for the matrix resin with organic solvent. This paper introduced the control of CFRP from two aspects.

2.1. Molecular assembly of carbon fiber and molecular dynamic simulation

Molecular self-assembly provides a means to obtain a controlled and ordered structure. Self-assembly monolayers (SAMs) are usually prepared. In solutions, organic molecules spontaneously chemisorbed on solid substrates with a strong coordinative bond via sulfur atom, and they formed a closely packed and highly ordered monolayers by the van der Waals interaction among the molecules. Although self-assembly monolayers (SAMs) systems have occupied a wide range of applications in the fields of biology, microelectronics, optics and coatings, its studies in composite systems have been seldom reported. Lu et al. [24] have investigated the organic heterocyclic compounds containing nitrogen or sulfur atoms as self-assembly thin films in aluminum powder/polyurethane composites in detail. They found the treated aluminum powder-reinforced PU composites possessed a higher tensile strength and higher elongation than those of the untreated systems. As far as we know, no studies concerning SAMs at carbon fiber/epoxy interface have been considered so far.

He JM [25,26] et al. developed a new method based on molecular-assembly on CF surfaces to obtain a controlled interface between carbon fiber and epoxy matrix in composite system. The surfaces of carbon fibers were first metallized by electroless Ag plating; then they were reacted with a series of thiols with different chain lengths and terminally functional groups to form selfassembly monolayers (SAMs), which further reacted with epoxy resin to generate a strong adhesion interface. They chose alkanethiols with different alkyl chain lengths and aromatic thiols with different terminally functional groups to control the interfacial thickness and change the interfacial properties. The results of SERS and XPS analysis revealed these organicsulfur compounds chemisorbed onto the Ag-coated carbon fiber's surface through the formation of Ag-thiolates. In terms of SERS selection rules, it could be concluded that the alkyl chains of alkanethiols SAMs were vertical to the Ag/carbon fiber surface, whereas the benzene rings of aromatic SAMs were parallel to the surface. The interfacial shear strength (IFSS) from the microbond testing of the composites increased reinforced by treated carbon fibers with alkanethiol SAMs. This was due to the organic molecules oriented perpendicullarly on the Ag/carbon fiber surface acted as coupling agents by the interaction of hydroxyl and epoxy groups to generate the strong adhesion interface. Moreover, the longer the chain was, the higher the IFSS was. This is because the longer alkyl chain molecules formed a more closely packed structure with more active functional groups exposured at the outermost surface. The IFSS of the treated carbon fibers composites with aromatic thiol SAMs also increased. It can be concluded that the effects of functional groups on the interfacial properties were strong, due to the higher reactivity of $-NH_2$ groups toward the epoxy than that of -OH groups.

The interface structure between the self-assembled monolayers on Au (111) surface and epoxy resin was researched by molecular dynamics methods [27]. The influence of the chain length and the end groups of the SAMs on the interfacial stability was discussed through the interface interaction energy. The simulation results were verified by experiments, which proved that the simulation method was advisable. The simulations indicated that: for HS(CH₂)_nOH, the interface interaction energy was the lowest when n is 11, and for HS(C₆H₄)X, the energy was the lowest when X is -COOH (as shown in Fig. 5).

2.2. Competitive adsorption of resin on the fibers surface and its control

The solution impregnation route is often employed to fabricate polymer-based composites through resin transfer molding (RTM) process. It is necessary to use organic solvents to easily wet-out the reinforcement for some high viscosity resins such as phenolics. However, the adsorption of resin components is complicated, which is the result of interactions between reinforcement, solvent and polymer. The components of the resin solution are adsorbed onto the surface of the reinforcement and determined the overall performances of the ultimate product.

The adsorption of phenolic resin onto silica fibers was investigated through selection of solvents with different hydrogen bond donor ability. It has been proved that the interaction between phenolics solute and solvent plays an important role in control the adsorption of solute on a silica fibers surface. Hydroxyls and hydroxymethyls of phenolic resin will form intermolecular hydrogen bonds with the solvents used. These intermolecular hydrogen bonds in solution compete with the intermolecular (i.e., adsorptive) hydrogen bonding with the silica surface. The stronger the hydrogen-bonding interaction in the solution is the less the adsorption of phenolic resin on the fibers surface has. So phenolic resin adsorption was suppressed significantly because of the competitive adsorption of solvent onto silica substrate and strong solvent—solute interaction.

The competitive adsorption was also investigated by carbon fiber modification by silane agent with different organic functional groups. Silane species present fibers surfaces with different polarity by possessing different hydrogen bonding abilities and different residue silanol group contents on silica fibers surface. Wang B.C. et al. [28–32] analyzed the surface polarity of carbon fiber and found that it contributed to the competitive adsorption, as shown in Fig. 6. Silica fibers with amino groups silane agent was proved that the protonated amino groups are developed through hydrogenbond interactions. It led to the improvement of mechanical interfacial properties of silica fibers/phenolics composites, and it decreased inhomogeneities of resin distribution and mechanical interfacial properties at different regions of the RTM products.

Finally it was proved that the competive adsorption of phenolics components onto silica fibers was the result of hydrogen-bonding interactions among reinforcement, solvent and polymer. The adsorption of phenolics onto silica fibers was consistent with Langmuir isotherm.



Fig. 5. The interface structures and results of the $S(CH_2)nNH_2/Au(111)$ and epoxy resin. (a) $S(CH_2)_3NH_2$. (b) $S(CH_2)_4NH_2$ and (c) $S(CH_2)_{10}NH_2$. (d) Comparison of the interface energies of two different types of SAMs/Au(111) and epoxy interface.



Fig. 6. (a) Adsorption isotherms for phenolic resin onto silica from different solvents. α. Dioxane; β. DMF; γ. ethanol. (b) Ceq/q as a function of equilibrium concentration of phenolic resin in different solvents, Ceq. α. Ethanol; β. DMF; γ. dioxane.

3. Interfacial modification of CFRP

The carbon fiber surface modifications, with which fiber performance and fiber reinforced materials composite are all improved, have been widely used for carbon fiber related material fields, such as carbon fiber fabrication, carbon fiber reinforced materials. The modification methods can be divided into two types: oxidation and non-oxidation.

Oxidation is the method with using an oxidizing agent to improve the activity of functional groups on the carbon fiber surface. Promoting the physical and chemical reactions between the fibers and resin by oxidation in order to improve the interface performance of the composite materials. Oxidation includes gas phase oxidation carried in air, oxygen or ozone, liquid phase oxidation with nitric acid & sulfuric acid, ammonia, hydrogen peroxide, sodium hydroxide, potassium permanganate, chlorate, hypochlorite, persulfate as the oxidant, anodic oxidation carried with sodium hydroxide, ammonium bicarbonate, sulfuric acid, nitric acid, ammonium nitrate and organic acid or the salts of organic acids as electrolyte.

Non-oxidation is the method, with which the infiltration and interfacial reactivity of the resin to the carbon fiber can be enhanced to improve the interfacial performance of the composite materials. The structure and surface energy of the carbon fiber surface was regulated with coating, grafting, cleaning, etching and so on. With these methods, such as plasma, chemical grafting, surface cleaning, the weak layer of the carbon fiber interface can be removed to some degree, and the surface roughness of the carbon fibers and the engagement of the interface can be improved. Meanwhile, the surface energy of the carbon fiber will increase, so that the interface infiltration effect can be improved. Fibers surface functional groups will increase to promote the interfacial reactions.

Interfacial properties of carbon fiber reinforced composites can be promoted to modify the resin, through changing surface tension of the resin system, increasing the infiltration of resin to fibers and improving the mechanical properties of the resin itself.

3.1. Surface cleaning and activation of carbon fiber by supercritical or subcritical fluids

Generally, cleaning the sizing of carbon fiber is the first step for the research on the surface modification of CF, such as acetone Soxhlet extraction and burning under inert atmosphere [33,34]. But it is difficult for extraction to remove wholly the sizing of CF, and burning method will decrease the tensile strength of CF.

Carbon fibers can be cleaned by supercritical water, supercritical acetone and subcritical potassium hydroxide aqueous solution

[35]. Supercritical fluid has both liquid-like and gas-like characteristics, such as density between the two states, high diffusivity and good heat-transporting properties. From this point of view, supercritical fluid is a medium with excellent transport property. The effect of cleaning temperature and duration time were investigated, and experimental results revealed that the method of using these three fluids to act as the processing mediums showed a better cleaning result compared to the traditional method. Soxhlet extraction with acetone. In addition, using supercritical acetone or subcritical potassium hydroxide aqueous solution acted as cleaning medium is more efficient than Soxhlet extraction with acetone. For the method using supercritical acetone, it leads to less damage to each kind of carbon fibers after treated, and it is particularly appropriate for removing epoxy resin coating layers on the surfaces of carbon fibers. Comparatively, cleaning with subcritical potassium hydroxide aqueous solution may cause more serious losses of single filament strength to the cleaned fibers, but using this method can remove silicious contaminants thoroughly for the cleaned carbon fibers.

In order to improve the interfacial properties between carbon fibers and epoxy matrix, supercritical water and hydrogen peroxide were used as oxidation medium in the oxidation treatment for carbon fibers [36,37]. The experiment results showed that the amount of oxygen functional groups on the surfaces of carbon fibers increased after treatment, and the majority of these groups were carboxyls. Meanwhile the surface appearance of the treated carbon fibers was significantly affected by the oxidation reaction in supercritical water [38]. This peculiarity was attributed to the particular physical characteristics of the supercritical fluid, such as high penetrability and density fluctuation.

As the method mentioned above, in our previous works [36], we used supercritical water and hydrogen peroxide to treat carbon fibers surfaces. After the treatment the interracial banding between carbon fibers and epoxy matrix were enhanced by this method, in terms of IFSS and ILSS tests results. The reason is the roughness of the fiber surface was improved with the content of H_2O_2 increased as shown in Fig. 7(a–e) and the roughness was also increased with the increase of oxygen functional groups on the surfaces of carbon fibers as the XPS results showed in Fig. 7f, and main of them are carboxyls. At the same time, the tensile strength hardly changed after the treatment.

For the purpose of the activation of carbon fiber, KMnO₄/ subcritical water, KMnO₄/Br₂/subcritical water and concentrated sulfuric acid/supercritical Br₂ oxidation systems were designed [39,40]. The causes for designing such a mixed oxidation system included three aspects: firstly, the KMnO₄ used in the oxidation



Fig. 7. SEM photos (×10,000) of carbon fibers' surfaces treated with various conditions (a) untreated. (b) 2 mL H₂O₂. (c) 3 mL H₂O₂. (d) 4 mL H₂O₂. (e) 5 mL H₂O₂. (f) survey spectrum of XPS analyses for treated and untreated carbon fibers [36].

system had a strong chemical activity, and it could oxidize carbon fiber surfaces efficiently; secondly, the Br₂ used in the system had a weak oxidability, and it did not react with the C atom on the surface of carbon fiber even under the condition of high temperature; lastly, when the C–C bonds in the surface structures were destroyed by the strong oxidant (KMnO₄) in the oxidation system, the Br₂ could react with the fiber surfaces through free radical reaction or substitution reaction. Because the concentration of Br₂ was much higher than the concentration of KMnO₄, the presence of Br₂ had a marked effect on the properties of this oxidation system. It showed that the oxygen content of carbon fibers increased significantly after treated in KMnO₄/subcritical water. The oxygen content on fiber surfaces increased, after proper amount of Br₂ was mixed into KMnO₄/subcritical water in the oxidation, but the main generating group was hydroxy not carboxyl. Such phenomenon also appeared with concentrated sulfuric acid/supercritical Br₂ oxidation systems. It showed that, as a feature of these oxidation treatments, hydroxys are the main oxygen-containing groups generating on the treated fiber surfaces.

3.2. Surface treatment of carbon fiber by anodization

Since most carbon fibers are utilized as reinforcement with resin matrix, their surfaces are oxidized in order to obtain adequate adhesion between the fibers and resins. The most practical surface treatment for commercial production of carbon fiber is anodization, because the level of surface oxidation is easy to control [41,42].

The anodic oxidation of carbon materials in aqueous electrolyte solutions is characterized by the concurrence between three reaction mechanisms: intercalation reactions, degradation of the carbon material (formation of colloidal and gaseous oxidation products) and formation of covalently bonded surface groups. The reaction mechanism was influenced by the kind and concentration of the electrolyte system and the electrolysis conditions. Many researchers have reported changes in surface chemical structures of carbon fibers through the anodic oxidation treatment.

Denison et al. proposed a model of the surface oxidation mechanism for PAN-based carbon fibers which had intercrystallite voids on the untreated surface. Through oxidation, the original surface was consumed, and new surfaces and edges appeared. Additionally, the intercrystallite voids became wider [43]. Fitzer and Rensh had reported that the ILSS varied considerably depending on the kind of electrolyte. Ehrburger and Donnet found a good correlation between the number of carboxylic acid groups and ILSS through anodization in HNO3 and NaOH. Moreover, Fukunaga et al. [44] found a strong correlation between the double layer capacity and ILSS values. The mechanism of anodic oxidation for pitch-based carbon fibers is proposed to be selective oxidation and the appearance of prismatic surfaces in crevices. Since the prismatic surfaces have many sites that are chemically active to epoxy resin. Pitch-based carbon fibers show a strong adhesion between the fiber and the resin even after the fiber has been deoxidized (as shown in Fig. 8 a-b). In addition, Qian [45] discovered that electrochemical anodic oxidation treatment in ammonium-salt solutions could increase the root mean square roughness of carbon fibers with the largest extent from 4.6 nm to 15.7 nm. The relative content of polar elements such as oxygen and nitrogen also increased after surface treatment. There was an extensive improvement in ILSS values of carbon fibers after electrochemical oxidation treatment (as shown in Fig. 8 c-f), whereas the tensile strength of treated carbon fibers decreased obviously. When (NH₄)₃PO₄ was taken as the electrolyte, the chemical reaction on carbon fibers surface was violent and its damage to the properties of carbon fibers was greatest severity. There was a direct correlation between chemical reaction intensity and the concentration of OH- ions in ammonium-salt electrolytes, and the higher the concentration of OH- ions in the electrolytes was, the more violently the oxidative reaction happened.



Fig. 8. Schematic models for the mechanism of surface oxidation of pitch-based carbon fiber: (a) before anodic oxidation. (b) after anodic oxidation. (c–f) Surface AFM images of carbon fibers: (c) untreated. (d) Treated NH₄HCO₃. (e) Treated (NH₄)₂CO₃. (f) Treated (NH₄)₂PO₄ [44].

3.3. Surface modification of carbon fiber by plasma method and irradiation method

Plasma treatment is frequently used to modify carbon fiber surfaces to improve adhesion of the fiber to polymer matrix. Today, plasma modification has been used in many industrial applications filed to enhance the adhesion, improve bonding in polymer matrix composites.

So far, many researchers have reported changes in surface chemical and physical structures of carbon fibers through the plasma treatment. Among them, Qiu et al. [46] used the He/O₂ plasma to treat the carbon fibers surface to investigate the interface performance (as shown in Fig. 9a). They discovered that the plasma treatments can roughen the fiber surfaces (Fig. 9b–e). And dynamic water contact angles of the carbon fibers decreased with the treatment time increased. They presented that it was the main reason to increase the IFSS between the carbon fiber and PI. Rhee et al. [47] also found the similar result when they used the plasma to treat the carbon fiber surfaces.

Gamma radiation, also known as gamma rays and denoted by

the Greek letter γ , refers to electromagnetic radiation of extremely high frequency and high energy per photon. An irradiation can induce chemical reaction at any temperature in the solid, liquid and gas phase without any catalyst [48,49]. It is a safe method by which people can protect the environment against pollution, reduce maintenance cost and save energy consumption. In addition, γ -ray has high penetration depth to various objects and it can lead to a uniform distribution of radical initiating sites through the thickness of the irradiated samples, without considering the shape and volume, which is convenient for industrialization of CF.

There are essentially two basic methods for radiation grafting of CF: co-irradiation method and pre-irradiation method.

(1) Co-irradiation grafting method [50].

Co-irradiation grafting method is also called simultaneous grafting method. First, the carbon fiber and grafting monomer are mixed up in the same system, and then the whole system is irradiated under gamma ray condition after full contact (Fig. 10a). This method is easily operated, and the irradiation grafting process can



Fig. 9. (a). schematic of the atmospheric pressure plasma treatment system. (b–e) AFM micrographs of carbon fiber with different plasma treatment times. b control. c 16 s d 32 s and e 64 s [46].

be carried out simultaneously with the radiation process as shown in Fig. 10b.

In our previous work, we found that the ILSS of CF/epoxy composites enhanced about 37% after Co_{60} irradiation treatment. The performance improvement resulted from polar chemical bonds

occurrence, such as–OH, -C=O and -COOH. Higher hydrophilic made a better wettability for epoxy composite processing. In addition, we also discovered that the excessive irradiation (>250 kGy) was not beneficial for mechanical interlocking between CF and epoxy resin, while the impregnating performance of CF was



Fig. 10. (a) Schematic of the irradiate instrument. (b) the schematic plan of CF irradiate process by a point-source Co60radiator.(c-f). carbon fiber surface pictures of SEM and AFM: (c) and (e) untreated CF. (d) and (f) after irradiation [56].

improved after irradiation.

(2) Pre-irradiation grafting method [51].

In pre-irradiation, the carbon fibers are first exposed to Gammaray irradiation in vacuum or under inert atmosphere to generate radicals before being exposed to a grafting monomer. The irradiation is a step-wise with the grafting process, it can minimize the generation of homopolymer, but the efficiency of free-radical is relatively low during the grafting process.

Irradiation not only leads to CF intrinsic structural changes, resulting in the trench on the surface of CF, but also could link the functional monomer to CF via irradiated grafting method to improve its roughness. Thereby the smoothness and inert state of CF surface could be improved.

Gamma ray irradiation can also change the surface chemical composition of carbon fiber. For example, when carbon fiber was irradiated in the graft reagent chloroepoxypropane [52–56], the energy provided by gamma rays induced the active free radicals from both of CF and monomer. Then the grafting reaction occurred on CF surface, and the oxygen-containing groups from chloroepoxy propane were introduced onto the carbon fiber surface, which resulted in the oxygen content increase and carbon content relatively decrease. With the increase of irradiation dose, more groups with higher binding energy appeared gradually on the surface of CF. This result indicated that high energy of gamma ray could induce grafting reaction between CF and chloroepoxy propane, and it also could promote the conversion of groups with low binding energy to high binding energy in high irradiated dose.

In addition, some graft reagent monomers, e.g. chloroepoxy propane, has similar ingredient with epoxy resin matrix [57–59], which are more likely to react with resin matrix. The introduction of grafting agent molecular chain, via physical entanglement, formed the diffusion interface layer between the fibers and resin matrix, so that the loads can be spread more evenly along the interface, which is conducive to improve the interfacial properties of composite materials, shown as Fig. 10(c-f).

Besides above analysis, in recent, Xu et al. [55] investigated the effects of fiber instinct structure and radiation medium on surface modification of CFs in gamma-ray irradiation for T300, T400, T700, T800 and T1000, respectively. They presented that the changes of surface graphitization and roughness depended on the fiber instinct structure after irradiation. The graphitization of T300, T400 and T800 with low graphitization and rough surface increased after irradiation, while that of T700 and T1000 with high graphite degree and smooth surface decreased. Specific surface areas of lowgraphitization CFs (T300, T400 and T800) were changed clearly, while those of high graphitization CFs (T700 and T1000) remained almost unchanged after irradiation. They also found that the surface chemistry changed after irradiation was determined by the type of the irradiation medium. The oxygen ratio of CFs irradiated in Ar decreased, while that of CFs irradiated in ECP was increased with Cl element detected. Surface free energy of all CFs was improved obviously after irradiation, and CFs irradiated in ECP had higher surface free energy compared with CFs irradiated in Ar. So they provided a different rule for the property change of different fibers after gamma-ray irradiation, which could provide insights for understanding the different conclusion in previous work, and offer a new possibility to the radical alteration of CF properties in further low-cost use of gamma rays.

3.4. CNT modification of carbon fiber and its effect of interphase modified with POSS and CNTs

Recently, nanomaterials have been widely used as

reinforcements in the fibers reinforced polymer composite interphase in order to improve interfacial adhesion, toughness and heat resistance, etc, because of their unique size effect, high specific surface area and chemical activity. Carbon nanotubes, graphene oxide, polyhedral oligomericsilsesquioxanes (POSS), ZnO nanorods, SiO₂ nanoparticles etc. have been introduced into the interphase by using different strategies. In this section, progress of interphase modification with POSS and CNTs is summarized.

Recently, POSS has attracted much interests as a new modification technology in the field of composite materials [60]. Every POSS molecule possesses eight organic groups, which provides them with high reactivity and compatibility compared to other inorganic components, such as SiO₂ or CNTs. Moreover, these organic groups, which can further react based on the final application, make POSS a versatile nanoparticle. According to matrices, POSS with different organic groups are used as coupling agents between the inert fibers surface and polymer matrices to improve the overall properties of the resulting composites. They are introduced onto the carbon fiber surface through chemical reaction, gamma-ray radiation or simple solution dipping method [61]. Afterward, the polarity, wettability and roughness of carbon fiber surface can be effectively increased.

The interfacial adhesion is improved due to the chemical bonding formed among organic groups of POSS, fibers surface and matrices. Numerous POSS at interphase can also increase impact toughness of composites through inducing a great deal of cracks to absorb fracture energy [62]. In addition, the POSS modified carbon fiber composites also present improved heat, oxidation and chemical resistance. Due to the diversity of POSS, we can choose POSS with different organic groups to meet requirements according to different matrices, for example, POSS with unsaturated groups is used for unsaturated polyester and POSS with hydroxyl groups is used for silicone [62–64].

In recent, Guo et al. [62] grafted the amino-POSS on the carbon fibers surface which achieved by the reaction of the spiralphosphodicholor (SPDPC). After grafting with a combined SPDPC and amino-POSS, they found that the ILSS of the composites increased about 22.9%. The improvement of performance resulted from the well interfacial properties that caused by the improvement of surface roughness. In addition, our group [63] treated carbon fibers surface with using two different functional (monofunctional (methacrylolsobutyl) and multifunctional (methacryl)) POSS. After grafting with both kinds of POSS, we found the wettability and roughness of the carbon fibers that grafted with both kinds of POSS were almost the same, but they were higher than that of the untreated carbon fibers. However, the ILSS, IFSS and impact energy of the UPR composites reinforced with methacryl POSS grafted carbon fibers were much higher than those of the UPR composites reinforced with methacrylolsobutyl POSS grafted carbon fibers. From the FMAFM observations of the impact fracture surfaces, we discovered that the interfacial adhesion between the carbon fibers grafted with methacryl POSS and the resin was much better than that between the carbon fibers grafted with methacrylolsobutyl POSS and the resin (as shown Fig. 11). All of these results showed that the interfacial strength improvement for the methacryl POSS grafted carbon fibers/UPR composites was attributed to two factors: (1) the enhanced mechanical interlocking and (2) the chemical bonding on the interface. And the chemical bonding at the interface of carbon fibers/UPR composites played the most important role compared with other factors.

CNTs, due to its high mechanical properties and similar composition with carbon fibers, have been used to modify carbon fiber surface. Up to date, several methods have been developed, such as growing CNTs directly on carbon surface by CVD [66,67], coating fibers surface with CNT-containing sizing [68], chemical



Fig. 11. (a-c) Force modulation AFM images and the sketch of as-received, methacryl POSS grafted and methacrylolsobutyl POSS grafted CFs for the CFs/UPR composites [62].

grafting of CNTs onto the functionalized fibers [69] and electrophoretic deposition [70,71]. There have been many references concerning these technologies in the last two decades.

Recently, Seo et al. [66] used the CVD method to graft CNTs directly on carbon fibers at low temperatures. The interface strengthen between carbon fibers and polymer matrix increased significantly and the mechanical properties of the fibers were not remarkably degraded. It meaned that grafting CNTs directly on carbon fibers using the CVD method is a good way to improve the performance of the carbon fibers. In addition, Lee [67] et al. found that CVD process itself did not cause any damages in the carbon fibers but instead healed them, if the proper CVD process time was maintained. And the catalyst coating and nanoparticle formation

were the main processes responsible for the reduced tensile strength in the carbon fibers. So they presented that proper CVD process condition was a key factor to effect the peformance of carbon fibers. Fig. 12 a shows schematic diagram of the CNTs directly grow on CF surfaces using CVD method, b—e figures show the morphologies of the CNTs grown on the carbon fibers according to the CVD method.

Moreover, Yu et al. [69] found that the tensile strength and the interfacial properties of carbon fiber can be concurrently improved by growing CNTs on their surface using CVD method, if the thickness of the catalyst coating and CVD conditions can be controlled properly. They discovered that grafting the CNTs on carbon fibers surfaces can repair some of the damage incurred during the



Fig. 12. Schematic diagram of the catalytic growth of CNTs on the CF surfaces. (b–e) show the morphologies of the CNTs grown on the carbon fibers according to the CVD method [68].

formation of catalyst nanoparticles, an increase in the carbon crystal size, and the formation of crosslinks of neighboring crystals by CNT by the CVD process (as shown in Fig. 13) which are the main reasons for the improvement, about 14% tensile strength increased. Expect for the CVD method, Brunner et al. [70] achieved to graft CNTs on carbon fibers surface continuously using the electrophoretic deposition method. This method can be operated under stable conditions for several hours and treated the carbon fiber surface on laboratory-scale. Meanwhile, the introduction of CNT on the carbon fiber can improve the interfacial adhesion property significantly.

Recently, a new strategy which introduces another nanocomponent with high reactivity on CNT surface or between fibers and CNTs has been developed. It not only uses the mechanical enhancement of CNTs to increase composite interlaminar strength, but also improve wettability and form strong chemical bonding at the interphase. For example, surface reactivity and wettability of carbon fiber and overall performance of composites can be obviously improved when amine-functionalized CNTs are grafted on octaglycidyldimethylsilyl POSS modified carbon fiber surface. Using this strategy, interphase with different complex nano-structure can be formed, which can optimize material performance according various requirements.

Besides the lastest method metioned above, recently, Feng et al. [71] proposed an efficient and robust route to functionalize CFs, based on dopamine chemistry, through a simple dip-coating procedure. They inverted CFs from amphiphobic to hydrophilic with deposition of polydopamine film. Furthermore, using polydopamine as a bridge, the hydrophilic functionalized CFs transformed to be oleophilic after following octadecylamine grafting. To illustrate applications of this functionalization strategy, they added 15 wt % functionalized CFs into polar epoxy and nonpolar poly(ethylene-co-octene), and as a consequence, their tensile strength respectively increase by 70 and 60%, which showed greater reinforcing effect than the unmodified ones (35 and 35%). It meaned the functionalized fibers produced excellent interfacial interaction with polymer matrices. Meantime, this simple approach was facile and robust enough to allow further specific functionalization to adjust surface properties. We believe these findings may lead to the development of new efficient strategies for surface functionalization of CFs that are of great interest to the industrial field.

3.5. Uniform modification of 3D woven

3D reinforced structures have been given focus on by more and more researchers [72–74]. The idea of 3D reinforced structures is derived from pile fabrics, needled felts, and stitched felts. These structures have better interlaminar performance than 2D cloth, but they are far from perfect. Their interlaminar shear strength, isotropic properties, and impact toughness must be modified to further improve. Many investigators have studied and developed 3D and multidirectionally reinforced materials. There are mainly four types of 3D fabrics, namely woven types (WT) [75], knit types (KT) [76], orthogonal nonwoven types (ONT) [77], and braid types (BT) [78]. Such developments are a consequence of the requirements of the national defense area, where multidirectional reinforcements are required and mechanical and thermal stresses are also involved.



Fig. 13. A schematic diagram explaining the microstructural changes of a CF surface during the CNT growth process: (a)original CF surface, (b) nanoparticles formed and partly immersed inside the CF surface, incurring some damage, (c) the CNT-grafted-CF surface, showing an increased number of carbon crystals due to catalytic graphitization [69].

When 3D wove without previous surface modification was applied, the physical-chemical interaction between carbon fibers and its reinforced matrix is not strong enough, because of the inert surface property of carbon fiber surface, which will directly influence the interfacial performance of the composite system. A variety of surface treatments have been applied to carbon fiber to increase the interaction between the fibers and the resin matrix, including oxidation methods [79] (gas oxidation, chemical oxidation, electrolytic oxidation and plasma treatment, etc.) and non-oxidation methods [80,81] (coating method, coupling agent method and vapor deposition method). For 3D wove, the fibers surface modification is different from that for the filament. The desired treatment effects were not only for improving the interfacial adhesion between the fibers and the matrix but also for getting a uniform treatment throughout the fabrics. Thus, among those treatments, only some of treatments are suitable for surface modification of 3D wove, due to the thickness of 3D wove. The surface modification methods cannot penetrate into the inert of 3D wove and be used for the 3D wove surface modification. Based on the current attempts, impulse type anodic oxidation method for carbon woven has been chose to treat 3D wove, due to the easy penetration of gas and liquid, the gas oxidation, and the oxidation includes ozone oxidation [82], and electrolytic oxidation [83].

The gas oxidation can be achieved by heat treatment in air, oxygen (O_2) or ozone (O_3) . Obviously, ozone has the most

possibility for the surface treatment for 3D wove. However, the problem also is the thickness of the 3D wove. As we know, the excessive oxidation will also destroy the strength of carbon fiber. So it usually appears that it is excessive oxidation for outside of 3D wove when it is optimal oxidation for inside of 3D wove. Influence of thickness on distribution of gas concentration is shown in Fig. 12 a. To solve this problem, the pulse ozone oxidation has been employed. In every circle, the positive and negative pressure can force the ozone penetrate into the inside of 3D wove. Different effects of oxidation treatment on surface and internal fibers in 3D fabric are shown in Fig. 14b. With the pulse ozone oxidation, the homogenous oxidation for 3D wove has been achieved (as seen in Fig. 14c).

There is also the same problem for electrochemical treatment for homogeneous oxidation for 3D wove. Using traditional continuous electrochemical treatment method, concentration polarization will induce different treatment levels along the thickness direction of 3D fabric. Cao et al. [84] proposed a novel treatment method for 3D fabrics to obtain uniform treatment through impulse electrochemical treatment. In her treatment for 3D fabric, ammonium bicarbonate solution was used as the electrolyte with the concentration of 5.0wt%. Fresh electrolyte solution was used for each condition. The specific current density for the treatment was about 120 mA/g. It was precisely controlled by a constant current and voltage source. The total treatment time (total working time)



Fig. 14. (a) Influence of thickness on distribution of gas concentration. (b) Different effect of oxidation treatment on surface and internal fibers in 3D fabric. (c)Change curves of the average ILSS values in 3D fabric reinforced composite.

was about 4 min, and the interval time (off period time) was 5 min. The intermittent times were varied from 1 to 9 which divided the treatment time averagely. After treatment, the IFSS of the surface region and the interior region along the thickness direction of the fabric composites were all obtained, as shown in Fig. 13b. After treatment, IFSS of fibers of different regions increased. Furthermore, the IFSS value between the different regions was near equal. When the intermittent time achieved 7, the IFSS values at both regions all reached the maximum values and the gap between them was minimal. As the intermittent time reached 9, the IFSS at both regions were all decreased slightly. Thus, the interior region of the fabric could be activated by the treatment. The degrees of the treatment were different for the fibers in different regions of the fabric. And proper intermittent treatment almost achieve the optimum effect through the fabric.

4. Development tendency

This review provides a comprehensive review of the interfacial characterization methods of carbon fiber composites, including AFM to characterize thickness and modulus of interphase, XPS to characterize the distribution of surface coating and the diffusion between resin and sizing of fibers, XRD to characterize interfacial residual stress and SAM to characterize molecular assembly of carbon fiber, etc. With the development of characterization methods, we consider that fiber surface or composite interfaces have been well characterized. The development trend of characterization methods still is inventions for in-situ characterization methods. Due to the complex of composite interface, the method to characterize in-situ that was relevant to interface formation processes has so far been elusive. Meanwhile, we also reported some novel methods of modifying the carbon fibers, including Gammaray irradiation modified carbon fiber and uniform modification of 3D woven to carbon fiber. The interfacial adhesion of carbon fiber and resin composites was significantly increased by these methods. More importantly, great deals of these methods have been industrial applications.

At present, many researchers are committed to the surface modification of the carbon fiber reinforced composite material. And nano-system modification of the carbon fiber reinforced composite material has become one of the schemes for the pursuit of higher performance materials, such as grafting CNTs onto carbon fibers, dopamine modification et al. The comprehensive performance of composite material can be enhanced at different levels by introducing nano-component to fibers reinforced composites system in different ways (including to form specific nanostructure on fibers interface or to introduce nanophase to polymer matrix). Comparing to those traditional modified methods, most studies are theoretical, so industrialization efficiently modification methods have always been a hotspot studied in materials science field. Because of easy operation and obvious effect, anodic oxidation method and ultrasonic forced impregnation method are the main modification methods used in industrial field currently.

Thus, further sustained research effort is still required before an appropriate method for carbon fiber surface modification can be discovered. The interfacial design and control is still a promising direction to treat the carbon fiber surfaces.

References

- Christian Burger, Benjamin S. Hsiao, Benjamin Chu, Nanofibrous materials and their applications, Annu. Rev. Mater. Res. 36 (2006) 333–368.
- [2] C. Hochard, P.A. Aubourg, J.P. Charles, Modelling of the mechanical behaviour of woven-fabric CFRP laminates up to failure, Compos. Sci. Technol. 61 (2) (2001) 221–230.
- [3] Zhi-Min Dang, Jin-Kai Yuan, Jun-Wei Zha, Fundamentals, processes and

applications of high-permittivity polymer matrix composites, Prog. Mater. Sci. 57 (4) (2012) 660–723.

- [4] A. Tomita, Ry Chiao, Observation of berry topological phase by use of an optical fiber, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (8) (1986) 937–940.
- [5] LJ. Broutman, S. Sahu, The effect of interfacial bonding on the toughness of glass filled polymers, Mater. Sci. Eng. 8 (2) (1971) 98–107.
- [6] C.C. Kao, R.J. Young, A Raman spectroscopic investigation of heating effects and the deformation behaviour of epoxy/SWNT composites, Compos. Sci. Technol. 64 (2004) 2291–2295.
- [7] U. Welzel, J. Ligot, P. Lamparter, Stress analysis of polycrystalline thin films and surface regions by X-ray diffraction, J. Appl. Crystallogr. 38 (1) (2005) 1–29.
- [8] S. Kishino, K. Kohra, Theoretical considerations on Bragg-case diffraction of Xrays at a small glancing angle, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 10 (5) (1971) 551–557.
- [9] Yudong Huang, Yuwen Liu, et al., Analysis of the interfacial residual stress in carbon fiber reinforced resin matrix composites by X-ray diffraction, High. Technol. Lett. (2000) 72–74.
- [10] G.J. Vancso, H. Hillborg, H. Schonherr, Chemical composition of polymer surfaces imaged by atomic force microscopy and complementary approaches, Polym. Anal. Polym. Theory 182 (2005) 55–129.
- [11] H.J. Butt, B. Cappella, M. Kappl, Force measurements with the atomic force microscope: technique, interpretation and applications, Surf. Sci. Rep. 59 (2005) 1–6.
- [12] M.R. Van, J.S. Villarrubia, W.F. Guthrie, Nanoindentation of polymers: an overview, Macromol. Symp. 167 (2001) 15–43.
- [13] S. Ge, Y. Pu, W. Zhang, Shear modulation force microscopy study of near surface glass transition temperatures, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 2340–2343.
- [14] B. Gotsmann, C. Seidel, B. Anczykowski, Conservative and dissipative tipsample interaction forces probed with dynamic AFM, Phys. Rev. B 60 (1999) 11051–11061.
- [15] T.D. Downing, R. Kumar, W.M. Cross, Determining the interphase thickness and properties in polymer matrix composites using phase imaging atomic force microscopy and nanoindentation, J. Adhes. Sci. Technol. 14 (2000) 1801–1812.
- [16] Y. Kodama, O. Akihiro, N. Nagasawa, Atomic force microscopy investigation of electron beam (EB) irradiated composites based on biodegradable polymers and coconut fiber, Nukleonika 58 (2013) 459–468.
- [17] R. Schmidt, O.J. Hak, Y.S. Sun, High-performance air-stable n-channel organic thin film transistors based on halogenated perylenebisimide semiconductors, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131 (2009) 6215–6228.
- [18] Q. Li, W. Liang, J.K. Shang, Modulation of MS2 virus adsorption on TiO2 semiconductor film by nitrogen doping, J. Mater. Res. 22 (2007) 3036–3041.
- [19] T. Matsumoto, S.E. Mikamo, A. Takagi, Single molecular observation of DNA and DNA complexes by atomic force microscopy, Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. 13 (2012) 2589–2598.
- [20] S.D. Solares, Eliminating bistability and reducing sample damage through frequency and amplitude modulation in tapping-mode atomic force microscopy, Meas. Sci. Technol. 18 (2007) 592–600.
- [21] B.I. Kim, R.D. Boehm, Mechanical property investigation of soft materials by cantilever-based optical interfacial force microscopy, Scanning 35 (2013) 59–67.
- [22] J.L. Thomason, D.W. Dwight, XPS analysis of the coverage and composition of the coatings on glass fiber, Adhes. Sci. Thechnol. 14 (5) (2000) 745–764.
- [23] J.L. Thomson, D.W. Dwight, The use of XPS for characterization of the glass fiber coatings, Compos. Part A 30 (1999) 1401–1413.
- [24] Y. Lu, J.F. Cai, G. Xue, Molecular design of a soft interphase and its role in the reinforcing and toughening of aluminum powder-filled polyurethane, J. Adhes. Sci. Technol. 15 (1) (2001) 71–82.
- [25] Jinmei He, Yudong Huang, Li Liu, et al., Controlled interface between carbon fiber and epoxy by molecular self-assembly method, Mater. Chem. Phys. 99 (2–3) (2006) 388–393.
- [26] J.M. He, Y.D. Huang, L.H. Meng, H.L. Cao, H.B. Gu, Effects of chain lengths, molecular orientation and functional groups of thiols adsorbed onto CF surface on interfacial properties of CF/epoxy composites, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 112 (2009) 3380–3387.
- [27] J. Jia, Y.D. Huang, J. Long, J.M. He, H.X. Zhang, Molecular dynamics simulation of the interface between self-assembled monolayers on Au(111) surface and epoxy resin, Appl. Surf. Sci. 255 (2009) 6451–6459.
- [28] Baichen Wang, Yudong Huang, Interphase formation of a resin transfer molded silica-phenolics composites subjected to dynamic impregnation process, Appl. Surf. Sci. 254 (15) (2008) 4471–4478.
- [29] L. Liu, H. Wang, B.C. Wang, Effects of silica surface treatment on the impregnation process of silica fiber/phenolics composites, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 107 (4) (2008) 2274–2279.
- [30] B.C. Wang, Y.D. Huang, L. Liu, Effects of fibre surface silanisation on silica fibre/ phenolics composites produced by resin transfer moulding process, Mater. Sci. Technol. 22 (2) (2006) 206–212.
- [31] Bai chen Wang, Yudong Huang, Ping Chen, Influences of fibre surface treatment and solvent species on RTMED silica fibre/phenolics composites, Adv. Compos. Lett. 15 (6) (2006) 191–198.
- [32] B.C. Wang, Y.D. Huang, L. Liu, Solvent-dependent adsorption of phenolic resin onto silica substrate, J. Adhes. Sci. Technol. 19 (7) (2005) 549–563.
- [33] S. Jiang, Q.F. Li, Y.H. Zhao, J.W. Wang, M.Q. Kang, Effect of surface silanization of carbon fiber on mechanical properties of carbon fiber reinforced polyurethane composites, Compos. Sci. Technol. 110 (2015) 87–94.

- [34] H. Yuan, C.G. Wang, S. Zhang, X. Lin, Effect of surface modification on carbon fiber and its reinforced phenolic matrix composite, Appl. Surf. Sci. 259 (2012) 288–293.
- [35] Linghui Meng, Dapeng Fan, Yudong Huang, Zaixing Jiang, Chunhua Zhang, Comparison studies of surface cleaning methods for PAN-based carbon fibers with acetone, supercritical acetone and subcritical alkali aqueous solutions, Appl. Surf. Sci. 261 (0) (2012) 415–421.
- [36] Linghui Meng, Dapeng Fan, Chunhua Zhang, Zaixing Jiang, Yudong Huang, The effect of oxidation treatment with supercriticl water/hydrogen peroxide system on intersurface performance for polyacrylonitrile-based carbon fibers, Appl. Surf. Sci. 273 (2013) 167–172.
- [37] P. Marion, A. Cyril, L.S. Anne, N. Perry, S. Guido, Environmental feasibility of the recycling of carbon fibers from CFRPs by solvolysis using supercritical water, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2 (2014) 1498–1502.
- [38] J. Montero, M. Angel, M. Jesús, M.S. Nicolás, Effect of supercritical fluid activation on the diameter of carbon fibres, J. Supercrit. Fluids 101 (2015) 131–139.
- [39] Linghui Meng, Dapeng Fan, Chunhua Zhang, Zaixing Jiang, Yudong Huang, The effect of oxidation treatment by KClO3/H2SO4 system on intersurface performance of carbon fibers, Appl. Surf. Sci. 268 (2013) 225–230.
- [40] Linghui Meng, Dapeng Fan, Chunhua Zhang, Zaixing Jiang, Yudong Huang, Surface amination for carbon fiber with triethylene tetramine in supercriticl water/ethanol system, Compos. part B 56 (2014) 575–581.
- [41] A. Bismarcka, M.E. Kumrua, B. Songa, J. Springera, E. Moosb, J. Karger-Kocsis, Study on surface and mechanical fiber characteristics and their effect on the adhesion properties to a polycarbonate matrix tuned by anodic carbon fiber oxidation, Compos. Part A 30 (1999) 1351–1366.
- [42] Z.L. Zang, G. Tang, G.F. Wei, D.M. Wang, D.F. Chang, J.H. Huang, W. Yan, The mechanical and tribological properties of anodic oxidation treatment carbon fiber-filled pu composite, Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng. 51 (2012) 1501–1504.
- [43] P. Denison, F.R. Jones, A quantification and investigation of surface microporosity in carbon fibres using labelling and XPS, Surf. Interface. Anal. 12 (1988) 454–460.
- [44] A. Fukunaga, S. Ueda, Anodic surface oxidation for pitch-based carbon fibers and the interfacial bond strengths in epoxy matrices, Compos. Sci. Technol. 60 (2000) 49–254.
- [45] X. Qian, X.F. Wang, Q. Yang, Y. Chen, Q. Yan, Effect of ammonium-salt solutions on the surface properties of carbon fibers in electrochemical anodic oxidation, Appl. Surf. Sci. 259 (2012) 238–244.
- [46] J.F. Xie, D.W. Xin, H.Y. Cao, C.T. Wang, Y. Zhao, L. Yao, F. Ji, Y. Qiu, Improving carbon fiber adhesion to polyimide with atmospheric pressure plasma treatment, Surf. Coat. Technol. 206 (2011) 191–201.
- [47] K.Y. Rhee, S.J. Park, D. Hui, Y. Qiu, Effect of oxygen plasma-treated carbon fibers on the tribological behavior of oil-absorbed carbon/epoxy woven composites, Compos. Part B 43 (2012) 2395–2399.
- [48] L.S. Liu, F. Wu, H.W. Yao, J. Shi, L. Chen, Z.W. Xu, H. Deng, Investigation of surface properties of pristine and -irradiated PAN-based carbon fibers: effects of fiber instinct structure and radiation medium, Appl. Surf. Sci. 337 (2015) 241–248.
- [49] W.Z. Zhao, Y.G. Lu, J.Q. Jiang, L.Y. Hu, L.X. Zhou, The effect of g-ray irradiation on the microstructure and thermal properties of polyacrylonitrile fibers, RSC Adv. 5 (2015) 23508–23518.
- [50] M.C. Evora, J.R. Araujo, E.H.M. Ferreira, B.R. Strohmeier, L.G.A. Silva, C.A. Achete, Localized surface grafting reactions on carbon nanofibers induced by gamma and ebeam irradiation, Appl. Surf. Sci. 335 (2015) 78–84.
- [51] H.J. Yuan, S.C. Zhang, C.X. Lu, Surface modification of carbon fibers by a polyether sulfone emulsion sizing for increased interfacial adhesion with polyether sulfone, Appl. Surf. Sci. 317 (2014) 737–744.
- [52] Junqing Li, Yudong Huang, Shaoyun Fu, et al., Study on the surface performance of carbon fibres irradiated by gamma-ray under different irradiation dose, Appl. Surf. Sci. 256 (2010) 2000–2004.
- [53] Junqing Li, Yudong Huang, Zhiwei Xu, Zhuo Wang, High-energy radiation technique treat on the surface of carbon fiber, Mater. Chem. Phys. 94 (2005) 315–321.
- [54] Zhiwei Xu, Liangsen Liu, Yudong Huang, et al., Graphitization of poly-acrylonitrile carbon fibers and graphite irradiated by γ rays, Mater. Lett. 63 (2009) 1814–1816.
- [55] Zhiwei Xu, Yudong Huang, Chunying Min, et al., Effect of g-ray radiation on the polyacrylonitrile based carbon fibers, Radiat. Phys. Chem. 79 (2010) 839–843.
- [56] Feng Zhao, Yudong Huang, Uniform modification of carbon fibers in high density fabric by γ-ray irradiation grafting, Mater. Lett. 65 (2011) 3351–3353.
- [57] Junqing Li, Hengyi Ma, Yudong Huang, A method for characterizes the interface between carbon fiber and epoxy resin: three-parameters exponential pattern, Mater. Chem. Phys. 89 (2005) 367–372.
- [58] Zhiwei Xu, Yudong Huang, Chunhua Zhang, et al., Effect of gamma-ray

irradiation grafting on the carbon fibers and interfacial adhesion of epoxy composites, Compos. Sci. Technol. 67 (2007) 3261–3270.

- [59] Zhiwei Xu, Li Chen, Yudong Huang, et al., Wettability of carbon fibers modified by acrylic acid and interface properties of carbon fiber/epoxy, Eur. Polym. J. 44 (2008) 494–503.
- [60] D.B. Cordes, P.D. Lickiss, R. Franck, Recent developments in the chemistry of cubic polyhedral oligosilsesquioxanes, Chem. Rev. 110 (2010) 2081–2173.
- [61] B. Song, L.H. Meng, Y.D. Huang, Improvement of interfacial property between PBO fibers and epoxy resin by surface grafting of polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxanes (POSS), Appl. Surf. Sci. 258 (2012) 10154–10159.
- [62] D.W. Jiang, L. Liu, J. Long, L.X. Xing, Y.D. Huang, Z.J. Wu, X.R. Yan, Z.H. Guo, Reinforced unsaturated polyester composites by chemically grafting amino-POSS onto carbon fibers with active double spiral structural spiralphosphodicholor, Compos. Sci. Technol. 100 (2014) 158–165.
- [63] F. Zhao, Y.D. Huang, Grafting of polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxanes on a carbon fiber surface: novel coupling agents for fiber/polymer matrix composites, J. Mater. Chem. 21 (11) (2011) 3695–3703.
- [64] F. Zhao, Y.D. Huang, L. Liu, et al., Formation of a carbon fiber/polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxane/carbon nanotube hybrid reinforcement and its effect on the interfacial properties of carbon fiber/epoxy composites, Carbon 49 (8) (2011) 2624–2632.
- [66] N.D. Greef, L.M. Zhang, A. Magrez, L. Forró, J.P. Locquet, I. Verpoest, J.W. Seo, Direct growth of carbon nanotubes on carbon fibers: effect of the CVD parameters on the degradation of mechanical properties of carbon fibers, Diam. Relat. Mater. 51 (2015) 39–48.
- [67] K.J. Kim, W.R. Yu, J.H. Youk, J. Lee, Degradation and healing mechanisms of carbon fibers during the catalytic growth of carbon nanotubes on their surfaces, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 4 (2012) 2250–2258.
- [68] G. Lee, K. Duk, Y. Chang, J.Y. Lee, W.R. Yu, J.H. Youk, A facile method for preparing CNT-grafted carbon fibers and improved tensile strength of their composites, Compos. Part A 69 (2015) 132–138.
- [69] K.J. Kim, J. Kim, W.R. Yu, J.H. Youk, J. Li, Improved tensile strength of carbon fibers undergoing catalytic growth of carbon nanotubes on their surface, Carbon 54 (2013) 258–267.
- [70] A. Battisti, D. Esqué-de, R. Ghisleni, J. Andreas, Single fiber push-out characterization of interfacial properties of hierarchical CNT-carbon fiber composites prepared by electrophoretic deposition, Compos. Sci. Technol. 95 (2014) 121–127.
- [71] S.H. Chen, Y.W. Cao, Jiachun Feng, Polydopamine As an efficient and robust platform to functionalize carbon fiber for high-performance polymer composites, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 6 (2014) 349–356.
- [72] S. Zhang, W.B. Liu, L.F. Hao, W.C. Jiao, F. Yang, R.G. Wang, Preparation of carbon nanotube/carbon fiber hybrid fiber by combining electrophoretic deposition and sizing process for enhancing interfacial strength in carbon fiber composites, Compos. Sci. Technol. 88 (2013) 120–125.
- [73] F.T. Moutos, L.E. Freed, F. Guilak, A biomimetic three-dimensional woven composite scaffold for functional tissue engineering of cartilage, Nat. Mater. 6 (2007) 162–167.
- [74] A.P. Mouritz, M.K. Bannister, P.J. Falzon, Review of applications for advanced three-dimensional fibre textile composites, Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf. 30 (1999) 1445–1461.
- [75] B.N. Cox, M.S. Dadkhah, W.L. Morris, On the tensile failure of 3D woven composites, Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf. 27 (1996) 447–458.
- [76] A.P. Mouritz, B.N. Cox, A mechanistic interpretation of the comparative inplane mechanical properties of 3D woven stitched and pinned composites, Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf. 4 (1) (2010) 709–728.
- [77] P. Tan, L. Tong, G.P. Steven, Modelling for predicting the mechanical properties of textile composites – a review, Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf. 28 (1997) 903–922.
- [78] D.S. Xue, M.H. Miao, H. Hu, Permeability anisotropy of flax nonwoven mats in vacuum-assisted resin transfer molding, J. Text. Inst. 102 (2011) 612–620.
- [79] L. Chen, X.M. Tao, C.L. Choy, On the microstructure of three-dimensional braided preforms, Compos. Sci. Technol. 59 (1999) 391–404.
- [80] M.J. Taherzadeh, K. Karimi, Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 9 (2008) 1621–1651.
- [81] S. Laurent, D. Forge, M. Port, Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: Synthesis, stabilization, vectorization, physicochemical characterizations, and biological applications, Chem. Rev. 108 (2008) 2064–2110.
- [82] X.L. Fu, W.M. Lu, D.L. Chung, Ozone treatment of carbon fiber for reinforcing cement, Carbon 36 (1998) 1337–1345.
- [83] S.J. Park, Y.S. Jang, Interfacial characteristics and fracture toughness of electrolytically Ni-plated carbon fiber-reinforced phenolic resin matrix composites, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 237 (2001) 91–97.
- [84] H.L. Cao, Y.D. Huang, Z.Q. Zhang, Uniform modification of carbon fibers surface in 3-D fabrics using intermittent electrochemicaltreatment, Compos. Sci. Technol. 65 (2005) 11–12.